

Planmeca ProMax® 3D

Planmeca ProMax® 3D Mid



Planmeca ProMax® 3D Max

# SureSmile®

Planmeca ProMax® CBCT Systems



THE DENTAL SOLUTIONS COMPANY™



SureSmile<sup>®</sup> has its headquarters in Richardson, Texas, with offices in Berlin, Germany and St. Leonards, Australia. For general information about SureSmile<sup>®</sup>, visit the SureSmile<sup>®</sup> website at <u>www.SureSmile.com</u>.

#### Contact us for support

To contact us, please call one of the phone numbers listed below, or email us at customercare@SureSmile.com

Region / Country	Phone Number
United States & Canada	1 888 672 6387 or 1 972 728 5902
Australia	1300 552 929
Belgium	+32 3 232 81 50
France	+33 (0)1 30 97 65 03
Germany	+49 625 116 16 14
Spain	+34 93 264 35 60
Ireland	+44 (0)1932 838323
Italy	800310333
Japan	+800 6655 1234
Lichtenstein	+41 800 33 11 99
Netherlands	+31 88 024 52 00
New Zealand	0800 336 877
Nordic Countries	+4543713377
Poland	+48 22 502 99 66
Portugal	+34 93 264 35 60
South Korea	+82 2008 7662
Switzerland	+41 800 33 11 99
United Kingdom	+44 (0)1932 838323
Note: We are currently r a country-by-country ba your country, you can st other countries toll num	rolling out this number on asis. If not yet available in ill call us by using our <b>All</b> aber below.
All other countries	+1 972 728 5902

## Table of Contents

About This Guide	1
What is SureSmile®?	3
Getting Started	4
Meeting System Prerequisites for Wire Therapy	4
Ordering Supplies	5
Selecting Patients	6
Considerations for Turbos	6
Bands are Acceptable in CBCT Scans	6
Scheduling a Supplemental Scan	7
When a Premium Model Service is Incurred	8
Bite Scans for orascanner Users	9
Taking Required 2D Records	10
Import Records on Time	10
Rules for 2D Equipment	11
Overview of the Therapeutic Scan Appointment	12
Scanning Plaster Models	13
CBCT Scan Procedure	16
Scan Criteria	16
Setting up for the Scan	17
Preparing the Patient	19
Restraining the Patient and Capturing Scans	.20
Take the Full Scan	21
Check for Signs of Motion	. 22
Exporting the Data	. 22
Extracting Data from 3D Image	. 25
Model Order for SureSmile Advanced	.30
Adding a Supplemental Scan	. 35
Submitting CBCT Orders	.36
Model Order for SureSmile Ortho or SureSmile Aligner	. 37
Receiving Models from CBCT Scans	41
Update Model Order (CBCT)	. 42
Sending an Update Model with CBCT Scan Data	.43
Imaging Centers	.45
CBCT FAQs	.46
Training Outline	. 52
Job Aid for Planmeca ProMax® CBCT systems	. 53
Checklist for Your CBCT Order	.54
Learning Resources	. 55

## About This Guide

The SureSmile treatment process supports three cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) systems from Planmeca ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D: Classic, Mid & Max. This document covers the SureSmile scanning protocols for each unit (which will be the same for all three models), followed by the ordering process for submitting CBCT scan data via SureScan software.



Use of CBCT Scanners with SureSmile

The following Planmeca CBCT scanners are certified for use with SureSmile

System Model	Configured with
ProMax <sup>®</sup> 3D Classic	
ProMax® 3D Mid	Romexis 4.3.0 or later ProMax 3.70 or later
ProMax® 3D Max	

If you have a certified scanner and are unsure whether it meets these requirements, please call the manufacturer. See the manufacturer's specifications for space measurements and connection requirements.

You may use your i-CAT system to produce three types of models for SureSmile treatment:

- **Diagnostic Model** a model of the malocclusion comprised of individual tooth models created from a scan of a plaster model or a patient. It is used for diagnostic purposes.
- Therapeutic Model a model of the patient's tooth anatomy and bracket positions captured in an in-vivo CBCT scan during treatment. This model is required to produce custom archwires and aligner cases.
- Final Model a model of the final tooth anatomy and positions after debonding created from a scan of a plaster model or a patient.

The table below illustrates that a model can be created from a CBCT scan of a plaster model or a CBCT scan of a patient (in-vivo), with the exception that the Therapeutic model must be taken in-vivo.

Notice an intraoral scan can supplement a CBCT scan to bypass limitations in CBCT processing or capture more teeth to produce a premium quality model (additional fee applies). Take the supplemental scan with an optical scanner such as the orascanner<sup>®</sup>, iTero<sup>®</sup>, 3shape TRIOS<sup>®</sup>, 3M<sup>™</sup> True Definition, or CEREC<sup>®</sup> with Omnicam.

	Plaster	In-vivo	In-vivo + Supplemental Scan
Diagnostic Model	×	×	Х
Therapeutic Model		×	Х
Final Model	×	×	Х

#### Prerequisite Training

Prior to conducting the SureSmile training and launch, the practice should be trained in the proper use of the i-CAT imaging system by an authorized trainer of Imaging Sciences, Intl.

#### **Cybersecurity Guidelines**

- 1. Keep your computer's operating system up to date with patches and fixes.
- 2. Install and maintain an anti-virus program.
- 3. Install and maintain a firewall between your LAN and the internet.
- 4. Avoid installing browser add-ins or plug-ins.
- 5. Avoid downloading or installing software from unknown sites
- 6. Create a hard to guess password by using at least 8 characters of mixed case letters, numbers, and symbols.
- 7. Avoid using common words or phrases.
- 8. Do not reuse the same password for any accounts.
- 9. Consider using a password program to manage passwords, such as KeePass or LastPass
- 10. Do not display your password where others can see it.
- 11. Change your password periodically, every 60 to 90 days.
- 12. Logout or lock your workstation when leaving your desk.
- 13. Avoid clicking on links in email. Instead, go directly to the site and login using your user-id and password.

Contacts for service or software issues:

For issues with SureSmile orders, software, or CBCT protocols for SureSmile, contact Customer Care per the listing on page 2 or in the suresmile online help. To access this area, go to SureSmile via your web browser, click the ? icon and select "Help Center."

For issues with ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D imaging systems or exporting data, please contact Planmeca customer support.

## What is SureSmile®?

The SureSmile system is the first end-to-end solution that allows the orthodontist to apply 3D diagnostic imaging and computer-aided treatment planning to produce custom appliances. This results in greater control and efficiency for orthodontic care.

The SureSmile system is comprised of several technology components:

- Scanning technologies to produce a 3D model of the patient's dentition that may be captured in an optical scan by our orascanner or a certified third-party scanner; scans may also be captured by a certified CBCT system.
- SureSmile 3D software, which provides powerful visualization tools for precision diagnosis, treatment simulation and customized appliance design. The doctor can review the digital setup with this software and use it to communicate with patients and with the SureSmile Digital Lab.
- SureScan software primarily used for scan acquisition with the orascanner or CBCT data submission

The SureSmile Digital Lab provides scan and setup processing to produce precise robotically bent custom archwires and aligners; or you may order aligners.

**IMPORTANT**: SureSmile does not determine patient care. SureSmile provides therapeutics as directed by the doctor. The best possible results from the SureSmile process depend on the application of the doctor's diagnostic and clinical judgment.



## Getting Started

Prior to sending CBCT data to SureSmile, your practice must meet prerequisites that enable us to produce high quality modeling results for your patients.

### Meeting System Prerequisites for Wire Therapy

1. Use an approved bracket family

Brackets in the SureSmile bracket library must be approved for use with CBCT scan processing for therapeutic models. Just as you submitted bracket requests when you implemented SureSmile, you will need to notify us of the brackets you intend to use with CBCT. Please submit your request as soon as possible since it may take up to 60 days to approve brackets for use with CBCT.

**IMPORTANT:** Gold brackets are not acceptable for CBCT products such as CBCT scans or premium models.

#### 2. Validate your CBCT equipment

The CBCT equipment at your practice must be validated by SureSmile® to work with SureSmile before the Digital Lab can accept CBCT scans from your practice.

As part of the setup process, Customer Care will provide a "phantom" (plastic model) for you to scan. After we receive the scan data, we will test it for accuracy and inform you of the results within 30 days. Once your system is validated, please follow the manufacturer's instructions for calibrating your equipment weekly.

#### 3. Set up a share drive for CBCT data



To facilitate SureSmile orders based on CBCT data, export your CBCT scan data from your CBCT system to a folder on your practice network. This folder can be located on the CBCT computer itself, a practice computer, a practice server or on some type of physical media. You will need to have your IT support provider, or your Network Administrator, set this up for you as SureSmile Customer Support cannot make changes to your practice network.

#### 4. Check your CBCT order options

The SureSmile scan acquisition software is called SureScan. You will find the CBCT scan option in the SureSmile browser order page. If you do not see a CBCT selection under the **Select your 3D scan data files** section, your site has not been validated for CBCT. Please contact SureSmile Customer Care for assistance.

PLY/STL	Ora Scan GBCT Scan
Click to - If sure - If sure After yo Refrest	upload your CBCT scan data. acan is initiatied on this computer, click Open surescan. acan is initiatied on onder computer, click Create a Task. u finah, return to suresmile to place your order. y your web browser to remove "Please Provide Scan Data" under Missing Prerequisites and enable the Submit Product button.



SureSmile Advanced

#### SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner

### Ordering Supplies

#### Material for bite separation

You will need to keep bite wafers on hand to separate upper and lower teeth during the CBCT scan. (The Digital Lab cannot process CBCT scans where teeth are in contact.)

SureSmile recommends bite wafers that are a minimum of .5 mm to 1.0 mm thick. You may use any brand such as the U-Shaped wafers supplied by Modern Materials<sup>®</sup>.

Because the ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D utilizes a chin cup instead of a bite block, you can use the same bite wafers for in vivo scans and plaster scans. For ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D in-vivo scans, you will need a bite registration material such as WAX BASEPLATE PINK #2 distributed by Patterson Dental.

## Equipment and accessories for patient restraint

You may also need to stock up on any supplies or accessories that will help you eliminate patient movement. For example, you may need a footstool. Check with the manufacturer to obtain all of the options available for your system.

You will need to designate a chair for use with your CBCT unit. SureSmile recommends scanning patients while seated instead of standing to minimize patient movement. Choose a chair with a back that is perfectly stable (does not roll or wobble).





### Selecting Patients

When selecting patients, remember the patient must be eligible for a CBCT scan according to the manufacturer's recommended use for the device and any state and local regulations.

### Phase 2 Only

Complete Phase I treatment prior to taking the CBCT scan. The SureSmile system cannot create models for patients with metal appliances such as expanders.

**NOTE:** TADs and lingual buttons are acceptable as long as any metal appliance is not within 0.5 mm of teeth or brackets.

### Considerations for Turbos

You may scan turbos whether they are composite or metal. However, if you can see the occlusal turbos on the x-ray, they will show up on the SureSmile model. Therefore, we recommend removing these turbos prior to the scan.

Alternatively, use a material for turbos that will not show up in the x-ray; for example, Transbond™ LR by Unitek.

Additional considerations for turbos:

- Remember photos must match scan data. If you left the turbos on for the scan (because the material won't interfere), leave them on for the photos.
- Don't skip the step of using the bite wafer—it ensures you have adequate separation and helps stabilize the teeth so the patient doesn't shift during the scan.

### Bands are Acceptable in CBCT Scans

The scatter caused by bands is within an acceptable level. You may CBCT scan patients with bands, and you do NOT need a supplemental scan.









### Scheduling a Supplemental Scan

For SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner cases, a full upper and lower supplemental scan is required for all orders with CBCT scans.

A CBCT scanner works by transmitting x-rays and detecting where the rays meet hard tissue. If the rays meet metal, they are thrown off track and cause "scatter" in the data that makes the image less clear. The larger the amount of metal, the more scatter created.

Through testing and experience processing CBCT scans, we have found the limits where there is too much distortion to produce tooth models. We have the opposite problem with some non-metal restorations. In certain cases, the CBCT scanner does not capture these areas adequately for modeling because they do not have sufficient density.

If you have an orascanner or other certified 3rd party scanner in your office, you have the ability to take a supplemental scan to compensate for areas of the CBCT that cannot be processed due to these limitations. Whenever you discover during an exam that a supplemental scan will be needed, remember to allow time in your schedule for both procedures: CBCT scan and supplemental scan.

Restorations that cause too much "scatter" in the CBCT Scan:



Cannot support metal crowns or bridges with metal such as:

- Porcelain veneer crowns or porcelain fused to metal (PVC or PFM)
- Porcelain veneer bridges
- Cantilever bridges
- Gold Inlays, onlays and ¾ crowns

Cannot create tooth models for patients with a metal filling that is 3 mm or larger.

**WARNING:** Patients with the restorations described above are not eligible for SureSmile treatment unless you capture the area in a supplemental scan with an orascanner (or a SureSmile-certified 3rd party intraoral scanner).

#### Restorations that are not captured adequately by a CT Scan:

- Porcelain jacket crowns
- Composite fillings on critical anatomy; i.e., incisal edges, contacting occlusal surfaces

WARNING: Patients with the restorations described above are not eligible for SureSmile treatment unless you capture the area in a supplemental scan with an orascanner (or a SureSmile-certified third party intraoral scanner).

Check the panoramic radiograph during the patient exam. If the tooth structure is not visible or appears as an outline, the restoration is not dense enough to be captured by your CBCT scanner.

NOTE: You do not need a supplemental scan to capture nonmetal restorations in a therapeutic scan if ALL of these conditions can be met:





- The Digital Lab has already modeled the teeth in a diagnostic model. •
- The anatomy hasn't changed from the time of the diagnostic scan to the therapeutic scan.
- The quality of the diagnostic scan was good and had no distortion or discrepancies in the diagnostic scan data.

### When a Premium Model Service is Incurred

NOTE: This is required for SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner cases. Additional fee applies for SureSmile Advanced cases.







Extensive restorations as described above can compromise the quality of the CBCT data. Your options for using supplemental scan data to enhance modeling accuracy depend on the number of affected teeth:

Patient Condition	Appropriate Procedure(s)
No teeth with problem restorations.	<ul> <li>Eligible for CBCT scan.</li> <li>Alternatively, capture a full scan (intraoral upper &amp; lower) using your optical scanner if the patient declines to be irradiated.</li> </ul>
Problem restorations in 6 teeth or less in one arch or 10 and less in total.	<ul> <li>Eligible for CBCT scan if a supplemental scan is provided.</li> <li>Capture the problematic teeth with a full arch scan, or you may capture a partial segment (include adjacent teeth for a minimum of three teeth in a segment).</li> </ul>
Problem restorations in 7 teeth or more in one arch or 11 or more in total.	<ul> <li>Eligible for CBCT scan if a premium supplemental scan is provided (additional fee required). Capture full arches to obtain the most benefit from the premium service.</li> <li>Alternatively, capture a full scan (intraoral upper &amp; lower) using your optical scanner to avoid the premium fee.</li> </ul>
Treatment requires a premium model; for example, a surgical splint is planned. Patient may or may not have problematic restorations.	<ul> <li>Schedule both a CBCT scan and a premium supplemental scan (additional fee required). Capture full arches, selecting the upper/lower options to include all teeth and gingiva.</li> </ul>

### Bite Scans for orascanner Users

Since the patient's bite is slightly open during the CBCT scan, orascanner users may optionally capture an intraoral bite scan with the supplemental scan feature to improve the model's bite registration.



## Taking Required 2D Records

The SureSmile system requires current photos and x-rays any time a scan is taken to optimize 3D modeling accuracy. Each photo is used for a specific purpose in Digital Lab modeling or setup processing. A standard photo set consists of:

- 3 extraoral photos: Extraoral photos indicate the natural jaw position and natural smile line. The Digital Lab uses this information when orienting the 3D model to the head position.
- 5 intraoral photos: The Digital Lab references intraoral photos to confirm tooth anatomy, check bite registration, and confirm bracket placement.

The following table illustrates the records required (or recommended) for each model type.

	Required Photos	Required x-rays	Strongly Recommended
Diagnostic Model	-	-	Five standard intraoral + three facial + full mouth Panorex, ceph
Therapeutic Model	Five standard intraoral + three facial	Panorex + initial or current ceph* (optional for SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner)	Full Mouth + Overjet
Final Model	-	-	Five standard intraoral + three facial + full mouth Panorex, ceph

For best results, photos should be taken the same day as the scan. To meet minimum modeling requirements, they must be taken within 4 weeks before or 2 weeks after the scan.

\* For the most accurate orientation of the model to the head position, the Digital Lab recommends importing a ceph that includes the Frankfort Plane. If the patient's CBCT scan does not capture this anatomy, you can import the ceph from the initial records.

### Import Records on Time

Import required photos/x-rays into the patient's SureSmile record before the data is sent to SureSmile.

If the 3D data arrives at the Digital Lab without the required records, the order will be placed on "customer hold," and you will have to release the hold before work can begin in the Digital Lab.



### Rules for 2D Equipment

The i-CAT® allows you to extract both the pano and ceph from your CBCT scan. If you prefer to use your 2-D equipment for capturing the ceph or pano, SureSmile's requirements are:

- Panorex (and photos) should be taken within 4 weeks before or 2 weeks after the date of the scan.
- SureSmile does not require a current ceph if a ceph from the initial records is available.

## Overview of the Therapeutic Scan Appointment

The illustration below (and continuing on the next page) outlines the steps of the therapeutic scan appointment. Remember prior appointments led to this point in treatment:

- Patient Exam—determined if a supplemental scan is required in addition to the CBCT scan
- Previous appointment—doctor determined the patient is ready for custom archwires (*SureSmile Advanced only*) and the therapeutic scan appointment was scheduled.



The steps for creating, assembling and submitting the SureSmile order do not have to be completed during the patient appointment:

- Create the SureSmile patient record before the appointment, or at the time you are ready to enter data.
- Upload photos and x-rays during the appointment, or as time allows during your workday.
- Enter the Dental Exam (including bracket information) during the appointment or any time before you submit the order.
- Import CBCT data any time before you submit the order.

To avoid delays to treatment, make sure you complete and submit orders by the end of the day.





## Scanning Plaster Models

NOTE: Scanning of plaster models are not applicable for SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner

As noted earlier, you can use your ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D scanner to produce a diagnostic model or final model from a plaster model. When taking this type of scan, please follow steps similar to in vivo scanning with some additional considerations:

When taking this type of scan, please follow similar steps for in vivo scans with some additional considerations:

- 1. Remove any patient supports attached to the xray unit patient support table. Insert the polystyrene disc into the adjustable adapter if it is not in place
- 2. Position the adjustable adapter for **plaster casts** so that the adapter is in the **second highest position**

Adjustable adapter in second highest position

Patient support table

Plaster Cast 3D

On the x-ray unit, select the program.
 3D Models > Plaster Cast

- 4. Change the settings to kV: 70, mA: 10.
- Set the resolution to: High Resolution. (An 8 cm x 8 cm volume will be captured.)
   High resolution: long exposure time and higher resolution for best results

**Fast:** Short exposure time and lower resolution for archiving purposes



### Polystyrene disc (Part number 10030330)

6. Select the forward field on the next screen. The positioning lights (volume center lights and volume bottom light) come on.

The volume center lights cross in the middle of the image volume.



- 7. Adjust the light as needed to mark the midsagittal plane, occlusal plane and anterior teeth.
- 8. Place the plaster model on the polystyrene disc so that the model faces the sensor.
  - ✓ Be sure to use the same bite wax recommended for in-vivo scans to keep upper and lower teeth in the model from touching.
  - ✓ The models must be separated by a wax bite that is between 0.5 and 1.5 mm.
- In the Planmeca Romexis program, click
   3D > Model Capture
- 10. Take the scan and export the data as you do for in-vivo scans.
- 11. Reset the unit as needed for the next scan
  - All appliances (such as a palatal expander) must have been removed prior to the impression.
  - Patient models must NOT be bonded.
  - Upload the recommended records into SureSmile: Five standard intraoral + three facial + full mouth, panoramic radiograph, ceph.
  - When placing the SureSmile order, select the diagnostic or final model option for CBCT Plaster Scan.









Image shown on computer screen. Model Capture function creates surface models instead of voxel data images

**WARNING:** Use this model type for storage or diagnostic purposes. Do NOT scan a plaster model when you plan on using the model to produce appliances, such as aligners or IDB trays. Instead, take an optical scan, which produces a more detailed representation of the patient's teeth and gingiva that results in a better fit.

## **CBCT Scan Procedure**

This section describes how to take an in-vivo scan with your Next Generation scanner that will produce clear data resulting in accurate tooth modeling and bracket positions. The steps for scanning should:

- Ensure the patient is comfortable and relaxed
- Ensure the patient's arms and legs are supported
- Ensure the patient's head is steady
- Eliminate patient motion during the CBCT scan

### Scan Criteria

- No blurring, usually caused by patient movement
- No refraction ("scatter"), usually caused by metal in the patient's mouth
- No contact between teeth
- For SureSmile Advanced, no contact between brackets.

There are three keys to submitting acceptable scans:

- No blurring
- No scatter
- No contact



### Setting up for the Scan

#### Patient supports

Use the 3D patient supports.



### Select Software Settings

1. Open **Planmeca Romexis**, select or create patient and start a 3D capture.



- 2. Select **Special Programs**, then choose Braces
  - In addition, this option will NOT allow for a sufficient amount of coverage if you plan to extract data from the 3D image for a ceph to be used for SureSmile.



#### A PLANMECA ProMax® 3D Mid Braces Journal De La Braces Journal De La Braces Journal De La Braces Journal De La Braces Journal De La Braces La Braces

Depending on the system model, various program options will be available if you plan to extract data from the 3D image for a ceph or panoramic radiograph to be used for SureSmile. See the following chart.

System Model	Imaging Programs Available	
ProMax® 3D Classic	Tooth 3D Teeth Double Scan Triple Scan Double Scan Do	NOTE: According to the system model,
ProMax® 3D Mid	Tooth 3D 3D Tooth 3D SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD SD	required selection in order to achieve the maximum results for extracting data from 3D
ProMax® 3D <mark>Max</mark>	Tooth 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D 3D	Image to be used for SureSmile.

3. Select patient size. ProMax<sup>®</sup> gives suitable exposure values automatically.



Click forward.



- 4. Take Scout image
- 5. For the Planmeca ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D Classic: Lift the adapter to the highest position.



### Preparing the Patient

(SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner - proceed to next section *"Remove Obstructions"* since no brackets are involved)

- 1. If the patient is in treatment, remove the patient's upper and lower wires along with any metal appliances that are no longer needed for treatment. Save these wires for reinsertion following the CBCT scan.
- 2. For self-ligating brackets, make sure bracket doors are fully closed.

#### Remove Obstructions

- Remove any head or hair accessories that might prevent the patient's head from being properly positioned, including ponytails, barrettes and hats.
- Remove any clothing outerwear, such as heavy coats, that might prevent the patient's back from being properly positioned against the chair or wheelchair.
- Remove any metal items that the patient is wearing such as glasses.
- ✓ Remove all jewelry from the neck up, including lip and tongue piercings.

#### Separate the Teeth

Teeth must be separated at minimum by 0.5 to 1.5 mm. The Digital Lab cannot process scans of teeth and brackets that are in contact or closer than 0.5 mm. Use wax that is thick enough to prevent the teeth and brackets from touching.



SureSmile recommends softening the wax to allow the patient to gently bite into it to help "lock" the patient's jaws to avoid movement. Remember the patient cannot bite through the wax or there will not be space between the upper and lower arches.

- 1. Warm the bite wax in warm water to make it soft and pliable, and trim it to fit the patient's mouth.
- 2. Insert the wax into the patient's mouth and place the wax against the upper teeth.
- 3. Ask the patient to press the upper and lower teeth together into the wax. Do not allow the anterior teeth to contact or any tooth and bracket contact.
- 4. Remove the wax bite and check it for show-through. If the bite wax seated correctly, proceed to restraining the patient. Otherwise, discard the wax and repeat these steps

**WARNING:** Do not use any type of bite block accessory that comes with your CBCT system. While it does separate the teeth, it does not help patients avoid moving their jaws.

### Restraining the Patient and Capturing Scans

**WARNING:** It is critical that the patient remain still during the scan. ANY movement will cause blurring in the scan data that will prevent it from being processed for SureSmile. If the data's quality is insufficient, it will be rejected, and you will need to schedule the patient for an intraoral scan.

- 1. Cover the patient with the protective apron.
- 2. Adjust the seat for the patient's height according to manufacturer's instructions.
- 3. Seat the patient with his or her back against the back of the chair.
- 4. Place the patient's feet flat on the floor—use a footrest if needed so that the feet do not dangle.
- 5. Using the Control Panel, adjust the unit height as needed.
- 6. Ask the patient reseat his or her teeth into the bite wafer.
- 7. Ask the patient to hold the handgrip. This grip keeps the patient's shoulders down.
- 8. Adjust the unit height and patient seating further as needed to maintain a horizontal occlusal plane.
- 9. As an additional restraint, tighten the temple supports.
- 10. The fastening straps can be used for additional support.
- 11. Fine adjust the volume position with the laser lights







To switch the positioning lights on (if they are not already on) do one of the following:

- Press the thumb wheel on the underside of the patient support table.
- Press any of the positioning controls (button or joystick).

The lights will automatically switch off after two minutes. To switch them off earlier, press the positioning joystick.

• Adjust the patient to position the midsagittal laser beam down the center of the patient's face.

WARNING – For SureSmile Advanced, do not cut off anterior brackets.

• Adjust the unit height to capture the region of interest. The lower horizontal laser beam should be at the base of the chin.



12. Take a scout image to check the volume position. Press forward and then expose.

For SureSmile Advanced, all brackets must be clearly visible



13. If needed, re-adjust the volume position.



### Take the Full Scan

- 1. Instruct the patient as follows:
  - The full rotation will take 20 seconds
  - You must remain completely still or the scans will not be clear
  - Take gentle, shallow breaths so that you do not move
  - Swallow now, do not swallow during the scan
  - Close your eyes
- 2. Take the scan according to manufacturer instructions.
- 3. As soon as it is safe, step into the room and reassure the patient while the machine is resetting.
- 4. The 3D image appears on the computer screen



**NOTE:** The patient has to remain absolutely still during the scan - any movement will destroy image quality.

### Check for Signs of Motion

Before you release the patient, check the data:

In the panoramic view, check each tooth with special attention to the bicuspids. Examine edges of brackets—they should be very clearly defined. If the teeth images are fuzzy, stretched or look like double images, the patient moved during the scan.

✓ If there are signs of motion, you may need to repeat the scan. Ask the doctor for instructions. Otherwise continue to the next step.



- ✓ Keep the patient seated until you have verified there are no issues with the scan. Volume processing could take 1-3 minutes.
- ✓ Send the patient for a supplemental scan (if needed and/or optional bite scan). If you removed wires, send the patient for wire reinsertion. *This step does not apply to SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner.*

Discard the bite registration material and disinfect the 3D bite block for the next use.

### Exporting the Data

#### Export the 3D volume

1. Select the CBCT scan to be sent to SureSmile.

Note: Do not perform artifact removal. The image must remain in its original format.

2. Choose the following export settings:

Export File Type: Set of Single Frame DICOM Files

Resolution: Orig. 0.15 mm

Bit Depth: 15

- 3. Choose where to export the data.
- Create a new subfolder for each patient. Preferably store files on local drives to prevent data loss caused by poor internet connection.
   NOTE: This folder should be used to store all

records for this patient.

5. Use patient's name as file name.





#### Export the cephalometric image

- 1. Select the cephalometric image to be sent to SureSmile
- 2. Click on Export Image icon
- 3. Choose the following export settings:

#### Image Format: jpg

- 4. When asked where to export the data, browse to the appropriate folder.
- 5. Export the data, choosing the folder created when data was exported.



Click Click button to st art the e	
ICOM DICOM mport DIR Imp. Study Browser Layout Close All Export	DICOM DICOM Print DICOM DICOM Launch Cloud Export DIR Exp. Editor Print Storage Ext.App
Export	
Export File Type Processed images (as they appear on screen) Image Format jpg Original images All Images in one file Do not create Patient and image information file IBurn" patient information to the export file	Export image to Folder Disc image (.ISO) CD or DVD Viewer options Include Viewer Skip Viewer launcher Viewer language: English
Folder C:\Data for Suresmile Filename Patient Name	
	OK Cancel

#### Export the panoramic image

- 1. Select the panoramic image to be sent to SureSmile
- 2. Click on **Export Image** icon
- 3. Choose the following export settings:

#### Image Format: jpg

- 4. When asked where to export the data, browse to the appropriate folder.
- 5. Export the data, choosing the folder created when data was exported.



ſ	•	Layout	5					Outp	ut		
DICOM DICO Import DIR Im	M New p. Study	Image Browser La	Set yout Close All	Export Image	DICOM Export	DICOM DIR Exp.	Print Editor	DICOM Print	DICOM Storage	Launch Ext.App	Cloud Expo
Planmed	a Romexis ort			Ţ							<b>×</b> -
Ex; (a) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c	ort File Type Processed in Image Form Original imag All Images in Do not create "Burn" patien	nages (as the at jpg les one file Patient and t information	ey appear on s image informa to the export fil	creen) ation file	Export Fold Disc CD Viewer Incluing Viewer	image to- er : image (.1 or DVD options- ude Viewer ) Viewer I: anguage:	so) er auncher	h			
Filen	older C:\Data ame Patient	for Suresmil Name	e								
								ОК		Cancel	



### Extracting Data from 3D Image

Depending on the system model, various program options will be available. *See the following chart.* 



#### Extracting the cephalometric image

- 1. Select the 3D image
- 2. Click Virtual Ceph icon





- 3. Adjust the image.
  - To rotate and align the volume, use the left mouse button
  - To rotate the volume sagittally (nodding), use the Ctrl + right mouse button
  - To adjust the contrast and brightness use Ctrl + left mouse button

The following options can be selected from the drop-down menu:

- **Default** produces the most film like quality in the image
- Flat flattens the image by reducing differences in contrast between areas
- Log adds contrasts
- 4. Click to switch to 2D imaging
- 5. Export the image as described in previous section to patient folder



	100000		Directio
-	- 111	>	ő
i v			P
6.03			Set Crop
			E Pron
Calif			E Right
		11	
		5 /	
		1	
		(V Pað Bisse Ta Sa Pyff	

Export File Type Processed images (as they appear on screen) Image Format jpg Original images All Images in one file Do not create Patient and Image information file Do not create Patient and Image information file	Export image to © Folder © Disc image (ISO) © CD or DVD Viewer options © Include Viewer
Folder C:\Suresmile\Patient-X	Skip Viewer launcher Viewer language: English •
Folder C:\Suresmile\Patient-X Filename Patient-X	

#### Extracting the panoramic image

1. Select the 3D image



2. Change to Panoramic View



3. Click **Panoramic Autofit** to fit the panoramic curve to the volume





A panoramic curve (focal layer) is automatically placed on the volume.

The occlusal level is automatically identified, and the panoramic curve (focal layer) is placed on the dental arch.

4. Click Panoramic Autofocus





With autofocus

This tool automatically identifies anatomy in CBCT image and shapes the panoramic layer so that it follows anatomy in all three dimensions.

When used in combination with the **Panoramic Autofit** tool, a detailed panoramic view can be generated.

- 5. Click **Quickshot** button to save the panoramic image to 2D imaging side
- 6. Switch to 2D Imaging Module



Without autofocus



7. Export the image as described in previous section to patient folder

Export Image

Pla	Annexe Romenis Export For Trype Processed images (as they appear on screen) Image Formal [pg   Processed images (as they appear on screen) All images none de D on ot create Patient and image information file Burn' patient information to the export file	Export image to # Foldor Dist image (ISO) C C or DVD Vereer Options Include Viewer Skip Viewer lancher Wewer lancuage: English •
	Folder C:\Data for Suresmile	

#### Extraction of Data from 3D Image Differs with System Model

Depending on the system model, extracting of Data from 3D Image will differ in exposure.

**NOTE:** Planmeca has optimized the teeth size volume to be used with SureSmile. The volume sizes are 8x8 cm with Classic & Mid and 10x9 cm with Max.

Chart below shows difference in extracting the *cephalometric* using the three different system models.

System Model	Coverage	X-ray Extracted
ProMax <sup>®</sup> 3D Classic would give you less because of the limited bandwidth <b>NOTE:</b> The ceph extracted with this model is not recommended for SureSmile treatment.	Teeth program Volume size 8x8 cm	
ProMax® 3D Mid	Face program volume size 20x17 cm	
ProMax® 3D Max would show more on each x-ray because the amount of area coverage it offers.	Skull program volume size 23x26 cm	
This is taken with normal <b>cephalostat</b> . <b>NOTE:</b> Cephalostat is an option you can purchase.		

## Model Order for SureSmile Advanced

This section describes how to work with SureScan and SureSmile Advanced for a model order which includes CBCT scan data

#### Start with SureSmile

1. Log onto SureSmile on the web.

Dentsply Sirona	SureSmile®
	Log in with your account details
	Email address
	Password
	Eoroot your password? Looking to add a new New to SureSmile? user to your account? Click here to create an account
	© 2022 OraMetrix. All rights reserved. Privacy Policy

2. Add a new patient or open the Patient Overview for an existing patient.



3. Click the **New** drop-down menu in the timeline and select the model you want to order.

The order page opens.

4. Fill out the **Dental Examination** section.

**NOTE:** Remember to load the patient's required photos/x-rays. The Digital Lab refers to these photos during tooth modeling, bracket verification and setup processes.

0	New :
Diagnostic Mod	del \$
Therapeutic Mo	odel (h) ard
Treatment Sim	ulation
IDB Tray Simul	ation
Final Model	\$

#### Model Unerupted Teeth:

To activate this function for a CBCT scan model order

- Scroll down to Select your 3D scan data files section
- 2. Select CBCT Scan
- 3. Click **Create a Task** button. This will create a task in SureScan to upload CBCT data for this patient.
- 4. Refer back to **Dental Exam** section, select desired unerupted teeth and mark "to be modeled."
  - For each unerupted tooth you would like the Digital Lab to model, select the tooth icon and click the **To be modeled** option.
  - If the doctor does not want to see an unerupted tooth in the therapeutic model, do not choose this option for that tooth. A diagonal line marks the teeth you do not elect to model.

Create	а	Task	



- 5. Apply a bracket set/assign brackets if appropriate for the model you are ordering.
- 6. Scroll down to the Select your 3D Scan Data files section.
- 7. Click the CBCT Scan tab as appropriate.

**NOTE**: This **Model Order** procedure does not cover PLY/STL 3D scan data files, because you upload these files directly within SureSmile without using SureScan.

Dental Examination Click a tooth in the chart to select it. R U 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 1 2 3 4 R L 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 1 2 3 4	5 6 7 8 U 5 6 7 8 L
Trett Brockets UR8 UR8 Ureating Ureatin	ssign brackets or model
Click the Ora Scan or CBCT Scan as appropriate. Select your 3D	3 5 Lineupted
PLY/STL Ora Scan CBCT Scan	

- 8. If SureScan is...
  - ... on the same computer you are currently working on, click Open surescan
  - ... on another computer or a standalone orascanner 1 station, click Create a Task spinning wait/busy cursor appears for a moment, and then a message: *Task item already exists* appears to the right of the button. Go to the computer or scan station with SureScan installed.

Select yo	our 3D scan data files We support PLY/STL, CBCT (DICOM) and OraScan files.
PI	LY/STL Ora Scan CBCT Scan
	Click to perform your OraScan. - If surescan is installed on this computer, click Open SureScan. - If surescan is installed on another computer, click Create a Task. After you finish, return to suresmile to place your order. Refresh your web browser to remove "Please Provide Scan Data" under Missing Prerequisites and enable the Submit Product button.
	Open surrescen Create a Task

9. *OPTIONAL*: If you are ordering a diagnostic or final model from a CBCT scan based on a plaster model, make sure you check the **CBCT Plaster Scan** check box <u>before</u> clicking the **Open SureScan** or **Create a Task** buttons. This ensures that the Digital Lab processes the CBCT scan correctly.

PLY/STL Ora Scan CBCT Scan
Click to upload your CBCT scan data. - If surescan is installed on this computer, click <b>Open surescan</b> . - If surescan is installed on another computer, click <b>Create a Task</b> . After you finish, return to suresmile to place your order. Refresh your web browser to remove "Please Provide Scan Data" under
CBCT Plaster Scan
Open surescan Create a Task

#### Go to SureScan

1. If you are...

#### ...already logged onto SureScan

#### ...not logged into SureScan

The SureScan External Order page opens on your computer screen on top of SureSmile.

Log on when the SureScan logon page opens. SureScan takes you directly to the External Order page for the patient.



2. Click the **Select CBCT scan data folder**... button to upload your CBCT scan now.

Import external CBCT scan data to SureSmile.	Product Notes:	
Select CBCT scan data folder	Filters: Standard Notes 5/2/2016	
P:\Training\7.2 CLASSES\Staff Launch & First Year Kit\Class Desktop\SureSr	4:59:48 PM Instructions	Do
V Model Bone	Deliver as finished!	
	4:59:48 PM Submitted	Do
	5/3/2016	
restorations, and/or a scan of the bite.	10:51:11 AM Changes in DL	brandy@
OraScan Files (PLY/STL)	Please add supplemental data	
	10:51:11 AM Order Rejected	brandy@
Supplemental OraScan	10:55:22 AM Instructions	Do
	Deliver as finished!	
	10:55:23 AM Submitted	Do
	11:06:38 AM Order Rejected	brandy@

Browse to the patient's folder, select it and click OK. This process may take a moment as the software searches for the patient's name in the data.

• If you receive an error message of a "Possible Patient Mismatch," click Yes if it is the same patient. This error may occur if the patient's name or birthdate is different in the CT record and the SureSmile patient record.

OR

If you accidentally selected the wrong data, click No and repeat the previous step.

- If you receive an error message regarding the voxel size, please do not send the order. This scan would be rejected. Instead, ask the doctor for instructions. You may recall the patient and retake the CBCT scan or take an intraoral scan.
- If you receive an error message regarding the data compression, do not send the order. Instead, return to the computer where you process CBCT data and re-export the data using the correct settings. Then, return to your SureSmile order and try importing the data again.

If a supplemental scan is needed, select the type of scan (OraScan or  $\mathsf{PLY}/\mathsf{STL}$ ) and add the supplemental data.

- 3. Click Finish Scan to submit the scan data.
- 4. Select **OK** and **return to SureSmile** in the browser to submit the product.

	surescan
<u>^</u>	Please switch to the web browser, update the product page and continue to submit. OK

#### Return to SureSmile

- After you've completed uploading the data for that patient in SureScan and have clicked Finish Scan to submit the scan data, return to SureSmile in the browser.
- 2. Open the order page for the patient and scroll down to **Submit Order** section.

Enter any additional information about the order for the Digital Lab if needed (optional).

R L ZZ	<b></b>		
Denin Baselo UR8 Presti Presti	Inter-proximal Properties	Miscellaneous Articomped Articinege	
a ferrary the Annual Dispersive	mit Order OraMetrix will start process	sing the uploaded fil	
t your 3D	Order Notes		
Citos In upos - Plazescanto - Plazescanto	Add your notes here.		
Autority your y			
Adar par land			
nit Order	Submit Product Cancel Pr	oduct	

If you have not fulfilled all of the prerequisites:

- when you return to the SureSmile browser, SureSmile opens to the Missing Prerequisites section of the Order page and shows which prerequisites are still missing.
- The system displays a reminder to refresh the screen. A message, Scan data missing, remains displayed until you manually refresh the web page. (Press the F5 key.)
- You must submit all missing prerequisites before you can submit the product order.
- Once you fulfill all missing prerequisites, click **Submit Product** to order the model. The **Select your 3D Scan Data** files section of the Order page closes.

### Adding a Supplemental Scan

If the patient does not have any restorations or other reasons for scheduling a supplemental scan as described in previous section, skip to the next section ("Importing CBCT Data"). Or, if a supplemental scan is needed, you must include it in the order before you click the **Submit** button.

A supplemental scan is always captured intraorally with an optical scanner such as the orascanner or a certified 3<sup>rd</sup> party scanner. Refer to the relevant SureSmile protocol for the steps to capture a segment, arch or both arches to provide a supplemental scan.

Capture the data according to the standards outlined in the scanner protocols, including:

- If you scheduled a required supplemental scan due to a large filling or other condition described in the CBCT limitations, you must capture a minimum of three teeth per segment to assist the DL in merging supplemental data with teeth/roots modeled from CBCT data.
- If you are taking a premium supplemental scan (additional fee applies), capture both upper and lower arches into the



supplemental scan area to take full advantage of this service.

Continue to the next section on submitting the order.

**NOTE:** Once the data is attached, SureSmile begins the job of transporting the data to the Digital Lab. Since this process may take a while, leave this computer turned on for at least one hour after attaching the data. Even after the Digital Lab has received the data, a technician will not be assigned to work on the model until you submit the order.

Refer to the relevant SureSmile protocol for the steps to capture a segment, arch or both arches to provide a supplemental scan.

### Submitting CBCT Orders

#### In SureScan:

 In SureScan, select or deselect the Model Bone option, according to the doctor's preference.

#### In SureSmile:

 For diagnostic or final model orders, click the "Deliver as Finished" checkbox as needed:

Import external CBCT sca	n data to SureSmile.
Select CBCT scan dat	ta folder
📝 Model Bone	
restorations, and/or a sca	in of the bite.
OraScan Files (PLY/S	ТІ)

- For diagnostic models, leave the box checked if you prefer the model to be delivered with a workflow task that includes options for starting an IDB tray or treatment simulation. Uncheck the box if you prefer the model to be delivered in a **Review Order** state.
- For final models, leave the box checked if you prefer the model to be delivered without a task. Uncheck the box if you prefer the model to be delivered in a **Review Order** state.
- 3. For therapeutic model orders, click the "**Deliver with Brackets**" checkbox as needed:
  - In a therapeutic model order, the "**Deliver with Brackets**" checkbox is checked by default. If this is correct (the patient is bonded and will receive custom wires), continue to the next step.
  - OR, if you are scanning a patient that is NOT bonded (or will be debonded at the next appointment) to transition from braces to aligners, uncheck the "Deliver with Brackets" checkbox.
- 4. You may import the required photos and x-rays before or after you have taken the CBCT scan and placed the order. If you decide to add these records at the end of the day, it is possible that the order will arrive for processing in the Digital Lab before you import the photos/x-rays and be placed on "customer hold." To avoid incurring a customer hold, import photos/x-rays within one hour of submitting the order.

## Model Order for SureSmile Ortho or SureSmile Aligner

This section describes how to work with SureScan and SureSmile Ortho or SureSmile Aligner for a model order which includes CBCT scan data.

#### Start with SureSmile

- 1. Log onto SureSmile on the web.
  - Open your web browser and type https://login.suresmile.com into the address bar.
  - Type your Email address and Password and click Login

Dentsply Sirona	SureSmile®
	Log in with your account details
	Email address Password
	Login
	Eorgot your password?         Looking to add a new user to your account?         New to SureSmile?           User to your account?         Click here to create an account
	© 2022 OraMetrix. All rights reserved. Privacy Policy

NOTE: You should use Google Chrome, Mozilla Firefox or Safari

2. Add a new patient or open the Patient Overview for an existing patient.

2	0	Patient Da Tasks	atabase	Patie	ent ID	7 New Patient	]	လ်န် Su Sur	reSmile Doctor eSmile Ortho Training	, 52 i	SureSmile Orth
Tas	sks (2)	Patients	s Shipme	ents J	obs Reports :		Sort by Si Patient ID V	how Tasks of All Types  V	Tasks for All	Show Active Tasks	View
Flag	Card	Last name	First name	Patient ID	Owner	Item	Task	Due Date	Notes	Setup Approval Date	Status Deferred Tr
	0	test	test	H9U6	doctor52@orametrix.com	Diagnostic Model 1	Upload scan data 🧿	2020-03-06			Active
	٩	Aligner	Full Srvc	P7W3	doctor52@orametrix.com	Therapeutic Model 1	Resolve hold	2018-02-07	Full-service	2018-02-28	Active

- 3. Enter patient information
  - Enter the patient's first name, last name and DOB. The orthodontist will populate automatically but you have the option to choose a different doctor if needed. Staff is optional.

Click on Case Selection Criteria to review the recommendations.

Patient Database Tasks	Patient ID	γ	¢ :	⑦ SureSmile Ortho
		Start a new patient		
		PATIENT INFORMATION		
		First Name		
		Last Name		
		Date of Birth YYYY-MM-DD	0	
		Orthodontist		
		Dr. Test	~	
		Staff		
			~	
		Case Selection Criteria		
			Next	
© 2022 OraMetrix. All rights reserved.				Privacy Policy

4. Select Package type.

(this step does not pertain to SureSmile Aligner, only SureSmile Ortho)



5. Upload surface scan data. Check the check box for CBCT premium option (\$). If you select the check box, the system will prompt you to upload the CBCT scan files after the order has been placed.

Click Next.

1 Pasient info 2, Case Package 3, Scan Date 4, Photos / X	-rays 5. Dental Exam 6. Pres	scription 7. Payment
	Upload Scan D	ata
	Upper Arch	Lower Arch
	Choose file to upload (PLY/STL files only)	Choose file to upload (PLY/STL files only)
Choose files to upload		
or dreg and drop them here.		
	CBCT premium option	n (\$)
	Next	

- 6. Upload images
  - Click 'Choose files to upload' to locate the photos & x-rays on your computer or drag them to this box.

Note: X-rays are optional for SureSmile Aligner

7. Complete Dental Examination

Mark any teeth that are not present in the scan as 'missing

- 8. Complete Aligner Prescription
  - Choose which arch(es) to treat and decide if you want to treat to 'Ideal' or choose 'Custom' to give the Digital Lab specific instructions.
  - If you choose 'Custom' you will need to complete the aligner prescription we call MACROS. There is more information on MACROS in the next section.
- 9. Select payment method and place order

You will then see a confirmation that your order was submitted for processing. The Digital Lab will process your case and return it for your review. Cases are typically returned within 6 business days but no longer than 10 business days.

- 10. If you selected the CBCT premium option (\$) you will be prompted to upload your CBCT scan via SureScan. You will need to install SureScan on the computer where the CBCT scan files are located.
  - If you already have the SureScan software installed on the computer you are using, jump to step 12.
  - If you have SureScan installed on a different computer, jump to step 16. If you need to download SureScan to the computer you are working on, please continue to step 11.



NOTE: SureScan can only be used on Windows; you cannot use SureScan on a Mac.

- 11. A few options to download SureScan:
  - Click the (**Download SureScan**) link; the SureSmile Ortho/SureSmile Aligner Help Center will open.
  - Click Install SureScan/Image Composer under Software Downloads and follow the prompts.

ireSmile (	Drtho Help Center emetrix <sup>is now</sup> ureSmile Ortho	Software Downloads Install surecard/image Composer Installation Instructions
t Stens	Case Types IDB Trays Do It Yourself Aligners	Contact Us

• You can also click Installation Instructions under the install link for instructions on how to download SureScan.

#### If you have SureScan on the computer, you are working on:

- Click the SureScan button to open SureScan.
   If you get a pop-up asking if you want to open SureScan, click the affirmative option to open the program.
- 13. Login with your SureSmile credentials.
- 14. The patient should open. If the patient does not automatically open, find the patient in the task list and double click their name to open it.



15. Click the Select CBCT scan data folder ... button and locate the CBCT scan files. Once the files have been uploaded, click **Finish Scan**.

#### OR

#### If you will be using SureScan on a different computer:

- 12. Open SureScan and login with your SureSmile credentials.
- 13. Find the patient in the task list and double click their name to open it.
- 14. Click the **Select CBCT scan data folder** ... button and locate the CBCT scan files. Once the files have been uploaded, click **Finish Scan**.

Once the CBCT data has been submitted, SureSmile begins transferring the data over to the Digital Lab. Due to the large size of the files, this process may take a while depending on your bandwidth.

Please do not close your computer or allow it to go into "sleep" mode for at least 3 hours after submitting so that all of the data can come across. If this is done at the end of the day, you may want to leave your computer on overnight.

If you want to check the transfer status you can right-click the green SureScan icon in the taskbar at the bottom right corner of your screen and select **Show**.

A window will display where you will see the number of files waiting to be uploaded. When the window is empty, all of the CBCT data has been transferred and it is safe to turn off your computer.

	SureSmile Data To Be Uploaded
Show 🔁 🖻 🖉 🔊 🗐 📕 🔊	There are 3 CBCT or STL/PLY scan(s) with 1203 files waiting to be uploaded.

### Receiving Models from CBCT Scans

When your order arrives at SureSmile, the Digital Lab temporarily loads the scan data into SureSmile matching it to the appropriate record. Due to data size, the CBCT scan is discarded after processing is complete and will not be available for viewing by the practice in the SureSmile software.

You will receive the digital model within five business days of sending the scan data and corresponding order to SureSmile.

Models produced from CBCT scans will appear the same as models from intraoral scans with a few exceptions:

- Gingiva is not available unless ordered with the premium service, or it was previously captured in a diagnostic model or prior therapeutic model.
- Roots are modeled and represent the patient's real tooth roots
- Tooth models are not as smooth



To view or hide roots or bone, click the corresponding icon:



## Update Model Order (CBCT)

This section is not applicable for SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner.

You may have a case where a patient is bonded with brackets that are not listed in the SureSmile Bracket Library. This situation most often occurs if your practice is new to SureSmile or you have decided to change bracket systems. As soon as you realize the brackets are not in the SureSmile system, please follow this workflow:

1. Submit a bracket request (may take up to 8 weeks to fulfill).

Email Bracket Requests to: brackets@SureSmile.com. Please include:

- Doctor Full Name (i.e.: Dr. John Doe)
- Bracket Part Number (i.e.: 123-456A)
- Bracket Manufacturer (i.e.: GAC)
- Bracket Family (i.e.: Innovation R)
- Bracket Slot Size (i.e.: .022)
- Tooth Number (i.e.: UR5)
- Indicate needed for CBCT
- 2. Perform the therapeutic scan on schedule.
  - In the **Dental Exam**, assign brackets where they are available and skip the teeth that are bonded with brackets that are not yet in the SureSmile Bracket Library.
  - Add product notes to explain the situation.
  - The therapeutic model will be delivered in **Needs Review**. The doctor has the option of ordering a setup and wires by leaving the teeth out of treatment that were not assigned brackets.
- 3. Watch for the bracket update announcement (*displayed on the Clinic Overview in SureSmile*) to see if the brackets you requested have been added to the library.

If the announcement is no longer shown, check the Online Help for release notes on brackets. To access this area, go to SureSmile via your web browser, click the ? icon and select **Help Center**.

Next, find the "Other Resources" section in the lower-right corner of the window and select "SureSmile's Bracket Library." When this page opens, find the most recent announcements listed at the bottom of the page.

4. When they become available, submit an Update Model order.



• This order is NOT a second CBCT scan. Do NOT scan the patient again!

- 5. After accepting the Update Model, submit a Setup order if Update Model included changes in teeth.
  - If you have already ordered Plan 1, you will need to submit Plan 2 to include the teeth added to treatment.
  - If update scan was only to update bracket information, then proceed with ordering wires
- 6. Proceed as usual with reviewing the setup and, ordering archwires.

### Sending an Update Model with CBCT Scan Data

- 1. Open an existing patient record in SureSmile browser
- 2. Click New and select Update Model from list of options.

**NOTE:** The Update Model is not available as an option unless therapeutic CBCT scan was ordered for the patient. It is also not available if an intraoral therapeutic scan has been started after the CBCT scan was sent; however, you can cancel the unsubmitted intraoral scan and the Update Model option will become available again.

- 3. Complete Dental Examination
  - confirm the bracket assignments

Select y	our 3D scan data files We support PLY/STL, CB
	Y/STL Ora Scan CBCT Scan
	Click to upload your CBCT scan data. - If surescan is installed on this computer, click <b>Open surescan</b> . - If surescan is installed on another computer, click <b>Create a Task</b> . After you finish, return to suresmile to place your order. Refresh your web browser to remove "Please Provide Scan Data" under <b>Missing Prere</b> button.
	Open surescan Create a Task

Diagnostic Model	\$
Therapeutic Mode	el \$ arc
Update Model 🕼	)
Setup	\$
Treatment Simula	tion
Wire	
Final Model	\$ etri

New : 🔿

- 4. In Select your 3D scan data files section, select CBCT Scan
  - If SureScan is installed on this computer, click Open SureScan.
  - If SureScan is installed on another computer, click Create a Task
- 5. Go to SureScan. Locate and open patient from task list.
- 6. Click **Select CBCT scan data folder...** to import external CBCT scan data to SureSmile
- 7. After scan data has been uploaded, click Finish Scan
- 8. Select OK and return to SureSmile in the browser to submit the product.



- 9. Under **Submit Order** section, enter in any additional notes to the Digital Lab in regards to the product.
- 10. Click **Submit Product** to begin the processing of the Update Model.

Submit	Order	OraMetrix will sta	rt process
	Order Notes		
	Add your note	es here.	
			/
		Submit Product	Cancel Pro

11. Confirmation window will be displayed.

Have you adjusted Brackets for this rebonding scan? Press OK to submit the order or Cancel to adjust brackets first.

Click **OK** to submit the order and begin the processing of the Update Model



12. **Return to SureSmile,** if you have new appointment dates for wire insertion or debond, update the dates.



## Imaging Centers

The CBCT scan taken for SureSmile patients is a critical part of SureSmile treatment. SureSmile processes the scan the imaging center takes to produce individual tooth models that SureSmile doctors can reposition to plan care and then design prescription archwires and/or aligners.

#### Getting Started

Once the practice has recommended an imaging center, Customer Care will work with the center to validate the CBCT equipment. Before patients can be scanned successfully, the unit must be calibrated to produce data that we can process. Validation involves scanning a "phantom" that we have manufactured for this purpose. We will test the data and inform you of the results within 30 days.

#### Imaging Center Supplies

The imaging center will need to keep a few supplies on hand:

- Bite wafers, minimum thickness of .5 mm to 1.0 mm (any U-Shaped brand)
- CD envelopes for shipping
- DVDs or CDs (depending on the size of the data produced by your CBCT scanner)

#### Providing Authorization (Optional)

The SureSmile practice will place an order through the SureSmile software to process the CBCT data. While creating the order, the practice can print a lab

slip with the doctor's signature to authorize the CBCT scan. The patient can be given a copy to bring to the CBCT Scan appointment.

#### Coordinating Appointments

Because the wires must be removed for a CBCT scan, the practice will need to coordinate the imaging center appointment between appointments at the practice to remove and then reinsert the patient's wires.

#### Sending the Data

The Imaging Center will store the CBCT data on a CD or DVD and send it to the practice, typically by mail. Enclose the signed lab slip (if provided) and the disc in a CD mailer to prevent damage in transit. Alternatively, some centers give the disc to the patient to take back to the practice.

Once the data is at the practice, the records assistant will need to copy the data to a folder where he or she can access it to submit an order to the Digital Lab.



## CBCT FAQs

NOTE: Please be aware that some of these questions may only pertain to SureSmile Advanced especially if it mentions brackets or wires.

## Can I send in CBCT scans of any of my SureSmile patients?

For therapeutic scans, support is limited to patients with approved brackets. Also, there are limitations on metal restorations. If your practice has an orascanner or other certified 3rd party scanner, you can take a supplemental scan to overcome these limitations.



## How long does it take to get my brackets approved for my brand of CBCT scanner?

At this time, this process may take as much as 60 days from the time of your request. SureSmile® engineers must scan and test each bracket family you request.

## NOTE: Brackets manufactured with gold or plastic parts may be ineligible for CBCT approval.

#### How long does it take to get a model processed from a CBCT scan?

Up to 5 business days AFTER you send the SureSmile order and CBCT data.

#### Can I take a CBCT scan of the patient with the wires in?

No, the patient's wires must be removed for the scan and bracket doors must be closed.

#### What if the patient loses a bracket following the CBCT Therapeutic scan?

For the best treatment accuracy, use the orascanner or a certified 3rd party scanner to take an update scan to capture new bracket positions. Next, order replacement wires.

#### When is a supplemental scan required?

There are three situations when a supplemental scan is required:

- During the initial examination, you determine that the patient has restorations\* that do not meet our requirements for CBCT-only scans. (Remember to set time in your appointment schedule for a CBCT scan AND an intraoral scan.)
- Your CBCT scan was rejected due to distortion (usually from metal fillings). In this case, recall the patient within two weeks of the date of the CBCT scan. At the appointment, reopen the SureSmile order and add a supplemental scan\* according to DL instructions.

3. For SureSmile Ortho and SureSmile Aligner, full upper and lower supplemental scans are required for cases being submitted with CBCT data.

\*If you have 7 or more teeth in one arch or more than 11 in total, a premium modeling fee is incurred

#### Do we need to take the CBCT scan and the supplemental scan the same day?

Yes. When you examine the patient at the beginning of treatment, you will determine when a supplemental scan is indicated. At that time, schedule the patient for the CBCT scan AND chair time with the scanning station at the same appointment. Since the data will be combined in the Digital Lab, the scans should be taken the same day.

#### Why are adjacent teeth needed in the scan?

The Digital Lab requires "anchor teeth," which serve two important purposes in tooth modeling,

- 1. They provide a boundary to help us size a new tooth model correctly.
- 2. They also help us register new data from a supplemental scan with the data in the therapeutic model. We need two anchor teeth to help us register the scans together. If the neighboring tooth is missing, please scan to the next tooth. If there is not an anchor tooth available on each side of the restored tooth, scan two extra teeth on the side where they are available.



**NOTE:** For the patient pictured here, you would capture the molar due to the large filling plus the LL4 and LL5 to provide two anchor teeth.

## Are patients with restorations in all quadrants eligible for a CBCT scan?

If the patient has 7 teeth in one arch *(or 11 total)* with problematic restorations, the CBCT scan will be very distorted.

To compensate for this issue, you may scan full arches in the supplemental scan area to request our premium service (available for an additional fee).

Or, to avoid the fee, do not submit a CBCT scan. Instead, submit a full intraoral scan of the patient using your orascanner or certified 3rd party scanner.

#### What are the reasons why the Digital Lab might reject my scan?

If you do not follow the protocol for taking a CBCT scan for SureSmile patients, you run the risk of sending the Digital Lab data that cannot be processed into an accurate model. In these situations, the DL will reject the scan and provide





instructions (in the product notes) to indicate your options and next steps. The reasons for a rejection include:

- Incorrect Voxel size the data may not have been captured with the correct settings or exported correctly.
- Full data not received the data did not transfer successfully.
- Movement the patient moved during the scan.
- Teeth/brackets touching during scan You may have forgotten to use the bite wafer or the patient may have bitten down through the wafer.
- Supplemental scan needed the patient has restorations requiring a supplemental scan but you did not include one with the order.

#### What if my CBCT scan is rejected for movement?

If you are replacing CBCT data only, reschedule the patient. You will need to schedule the appointment within 2 weeks of the prior appointment if you captured a supplemental scan. When you open the patient record in SureScan and select the rejected product, you will need to click "Yes" to acknowledge the message. Attach the new data (replacing the previous CBCT data), and submit the order again.

#### OR

If you are replacing the CBCT scan with an intraoral scan, reschedule the patient. When you open the patient record and select the rejected product, you will need to click "Yes" to acknowledge the message. Next, cancel the rejected scan, and order a new scan.

## TIP: If you are using a certified 3rd party scanner, it may be more convenient to open the SureSmile patient record on the web to cancel a rejected CBCT scan.

#### Sometimes I can't tell the patient moved, how can the Digital Lab tell?

When the patient moves during the scan, the resulting data is not distinct enough to create tooth models and register brackets. Here is how the data appears in the Digital Lab software after the data is derived from the CBCT volume and the modeling process begins:



Accepted scan - tooth and bracket data is adequately defined



**Rejected scan** – teeth and brackets appear blurred

## Will the Digital Lab reject a CBCT scan of a patient that is not accompanied by a supplemental scan of posterior composite fillings?

No, however the Digital Lab can only model the tooth anatomy that is present in the scan data you provide.

Consider these options:

- Recommended: Take a supplemental scan to achieve the most accurate model of the patient's dentition. This option can be the most efficient choice when you routinely take a bite scan (available to orascanner users) or if you are already planning to take a supplemental scan for metal crowns, bridges or metal fillings 3 mm or greater in size.
- Alternative: Order the therapeutic model and wait to see the result. If the tooth could not be modeled accurately, schedule an update scan. This option produces accurate tooth anatomy, but the bite may still be compromised.

**NOT Recommended:** Continue without a supplemental or update scan. In this option, the doctor takes the compromised modeling into consideration when planning the setup and bite.

Notice the model of the lower right second molar matches the scan data but not the real tooth.



#### What is needed for a CBCT diagnostic in vivo scan?

- The patient must NOT be bonded and all appliances (such as a palatal expander) must be removed.
- The mouth must be opened by a wax bite that is between 0.5 and 1.5 mm.
- You must take a supplemental scan of the restorations that do not meet our requirements for CBCT-only scans.
- Before submitting the SureSmile order, enter the dental exam and upload the recommended records: Five standard intraoral + three facial + full mouth, panoramic radiograph, ceph.
- When ordering, select the Diagnostic option for CBCT In-vivo Scan.

## What if I don't have a supplemental scan to upload when I'm importing my CBCT scan?

If supplemental cannot be provided at the same time as importing of CBCT Data, **do not Finish Scan** 

Click Save



Click **Back**. This will create a task for this patient and return you back to the Tasks page in SureScan

#### How can I include gingiva in my model?

TIP: If you are capturing gingiva for the purpose of fabricating aligners, SureSmile recommends taking an intraoral scan (rather than a CBCT scan) to capture data that includes gingiva and more detailed tooth models.

Recommended: To follow the most straight-forward approach for including gingiva in the model, order a premium model by checking the full arch options in the supplemental scan dialog and attaching complete data.

Alternative: Or, you can submit two orders with one order containing an optical scan that captures gingiva, and the other containing the CBCT data. When following this approach, you must be careful to submit orders in the correct sequence (see picture at right).

**NOTE:** If a supplemental scan is required to overcome limitations in CBCT processing, it must be included in the CBCT scan order.

Go to the supplemental scan feature and select the appropriate teeth for modeling. If you have STL data from your intraoral scan, attach it again here as needed.

orascanner users do not need a second patient scan; simply capture a few frames of data and type a note of explanation.



A premium model fee may apply.

#### Here are the advantages of each approach.

Premium model:

- If a diagnostic model was taken just to capture gingiva, you can receive more current gingiva by including an optical scan with the CBCT order.
- One order to submit no issue with which model ordered first, less steps for staff.
- Encompasses any supplemental scanning required for restorations.
- One model for the doctor to view; no confusion on choosing the reference model.
- Highest modeling accuracy for tooth crown data (taken from the optical scan).
- Although a premium surcharge applies, this service produces the most detailed and complete model of the patient.

Two orders:

- The first model may be a diagnostic model (lower fee, records not required).
- A la carte fees may be lower than the premium surcharge.

## Training Outline

This section recommends steps for rehearsing CBCT scans in your office.

#### Complete Planmeca ProMax\*Training

Complete training on your CBCT unit with a manufacturer representative. If the rep has not been trained on SureSmile CBCT scans, invite him/her to remain and be trained with you.

#### Prepare for SureSmile CBCT Training

- 1. Review the procedural steps in this guide.
- 2. Configure any settings recommended by the guide to get ready to take scans.
- 3. Watch a demonstration of an in-vivo scan by your AM on a volunteer. If your system offers a "dry-run" feature, use it to conduct the procedure without irradiating the volunteer. If not, the AM should go through the motions without taking a real scan.

#### Practice Scanning on Volunteers

Each person who will be operating the unit should volunteer to be scanned to experience proper restraints and the viewpoint of the patient. Once again, use the "dry-run" feature.

- 1. While following the guide in hand, practice scanning your field rep or a coworker (using the dry-run feature or going through the motions). Next, perform the scan without looking at the guide or notes.
- 2. Continue practicing until you can take the scan quickly and confidently.

#### Practice the CBCT Workflow

If time allows, complete all of the steps for a CBCT Scan order on two volunteers. Do not skip any steps. For example, don't forget to include required photos and x-rays.

- 1. Take the CBCT scan.
- 2. Export data for this person's name (you can use a sample file).
- 3. Start a SureSmile patient record with the same name and click the "Demo" checkbox to indicate you are just practicing and this is not a real patient.
- 4. Take a supplemental scan (if your volunteer does not have metal restorations, pretend that the lower 6's and 7's are metal crowns).
- 5. Import the CBCT data into the SureSmile order and submit.

#### Practice Scanning Models

• If the doctor plans on scanning plaster models to capture initial or final records, turn off the "dry-run" feature and take a real scan of a model. Complete the SureSmile order.

## Job Aid for Planmeca ProMax® CBCT systems

#### Is Your Patient Ready?

#### Wires out

(SureSmile Advanced)

Doors closed (SureSmile Advanced)

Wax bite (Teeth separated by 0.5 to 1.5mm)

- Select Software Settings
- 1. Open **Planmeca Romexis**, select or create patient and start a 3D capture.
- 2. Select Special Programs → Braces
- 3. Select patient size. Click forward.
- 4. Take Scout image

1.

1.

2.

1

2.

3.

4.

Extract Ceph

imaging

Select the 3D image

Click to switch to 2D

described in previous

section to patient folder

Adjust the image.

5. Export the image as

Click Virtual Ceph icon

5. Planmeca ProMax<sup>®</sup> 3D Classic: Lift the adapter to the highest position.

#### Prepare patient



#### Take Scans

Instruct patient, then step out, and take **Scout**. Check for: lower jaw, condyle, spinal column, nose, ¼" space between nose and border

Check panorex view: brackets clearly captured. If signs of motion, consult doctor.

2. Instruct patient, then step out, and Capture full scan.

Select CT scan, click Yes to detect arches.

#### Check Data

#### Export Ceph

- 1. Select the cephalometric image to be sent to SureSmile
- 2. Click on Export Image icon
- 3. Choose export settings: Image Format: jpg
- When asked where to export the data, browse to the appropriate folder.
- 5. Export data, choosing the folder created when data was exported.
- 6. Click **OK** button to start export

#### Export Data

- 1. Select the CBCT scan to be sent to SureSmile.
- Choose the following export settings: Export File Type: Set of Single Frame DICOM Files Resolution: Orig. 0.15 mm Bit Depth: 15
- 3. Choose where to export the data.
- 4. Create a new subfolder for each patient. Preferably store files on local drives to prevent data loss caused by poor internet connection.
- 5. Use patient's name as file name.

#### Export Panoramic Image

- 1. Select the panoramic image to be sent to SureSmile
- Click on Export Image icon
   Choose export settings:

#### Image Format: jpg

- 4. When asked where to export the data, browse to the appropriate folder.
- 5. Export data, choosing the folder created when data was exported.
- 6. Click **OK** button to start export

#### Extract Panoramic Image

- 1. Select the 3D image
- 2. Change to Panoramic View
- 3. Click Panoramic Autofit
- Click Panoramic Autofocus
   Click Quickshot button to save the pano image to 2D
- save the pano image to 2L imaging side 6. Switch to 2D Imaging
- Module. 7. Export image as described in provious section to
- in previous section to patient folder



## Checklist for Your CBCT Order

Patient ID: \_\_\_\_

PATIENT THERAPEUTIC SCAN APPOINTMENT



### Learning Resources

There is no requirement of specific training for the use of SureSmile Ortho Software 7.6, However, you can find additional information here:

Search the Help Center in SureSmile for:

- Online help topics with stepby-step instructions
- Downloads including forms and reference documents
- Video demonstrations of software features

	C Help Center	Home > Help Center		
	Instructions for Use	SureSmile Or	t <mark>ho</mark> Help Center	Software Downloads Install surescentimage Compose Installation Instructions
A-Z	Other Useful Documents     Frequently Used Forms	Aligners Full Service	Case Types	Contact Us
	Software Release Notes	EAQs Case Types/Pricing	Do-It-vourself Aligner Staging Full-Service Aligner Staging Advanced Diagnostics	United States & Canada 1 888 672 6387
Φ	🕒 Legal Notices	Aligners 3D Model Printing IDB Tray, Orders	Patient Management Using Search Starting a New Patient	1 972 728 5902
_		Popular Items Frequently Used Forms	Uodatino a Patients Democraphics	Customer Care Local Phone Numbers
Q		Disetul Documents PDF Version of SureSmile Ortho Online Help	Records Management Manage Image Sets	Australia 1300 552 929 Belgium
		Software Release Notes Scanning Guides	Edilmages Order Management	+32 3 232 81 50 France +33 (0)1 30 97 65 03
		Intraoral Scanners CERECE	Update the Treatment Timeline Enter Dental Exam for Teeth	Germany +49 625 116 16 14
		Carestream IOC™ Scannen/Tero®	Troubleshooling Orders Administrative Functions	\$pain +34 93 264 35 60
		3Share TRIOSE 3Share Integration 3M True Definition	Managing Users Setting preferences	+44 (0)1932 838323
		CBCT Scanners (BCT Validation Result) Form		800310333 Japan +800 6655 1234
		Phantom Scan (Instructions)		Lichtenstein

To open the Help Center, click the question mark button and select **Help Center**.

Visit <u>www.suresmileu.com</u> for online learning resources including:

- Archived SureSmile webinars
- Recordings of presentations from events
- Class materials

To open SureSmileU from the SureSmile software, click the question mark button 💿 and select SureSmileU.





:

All rights reserved. SureSmile is a registered trademark of Dentsply Sirona, Inc. © 2023 Dentsply Sirona Inc. 0281-EDUMAT-500477 Rev. 07 Issued 02-2023